IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JERMAINE NEAL

APPELLANT

VS.

ŧ

NUMBER 2007-KA-01899-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL

FROM

THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF TALLAHATCHIE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James A. Williams MSB # **Market** Attorney for Appellant Post Office Box 5002 Meridian, Mississippi 39302 Telephone: (601) 693-3881

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record for Appellant certifies the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of the case. This representation is made in order that the Judges of this Honorable Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusals:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

WHETHER IT IS A VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN THE INDICTMENT CHARGES DELIBERATE DESIGN MURDER BY DECAPITATION, WHERE DECAPITATION OCCURS AFTER DEATH AND THE JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE ELEMENTS IS A GENERIC STATEMENT OF DELIBERATE DESIGN MURDER NOT REQUIRING A JURY FINDING OF DECAPITATION NOR ANY OTHER ACT OF THE DEFENDANT

ISSUE TWO

WHETHER THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED A FAIR JURY TRIAL BY A DEFECTIVE VOIR DIRE PROCEDURE THAT DID NOT ALLOW AND WHICH DID NOT EVIDENCE A DETERMINATION THAT THE JURY FINALLY SELECTED HAD NOT PREJUDGED THE DEFENDANT GUILTY AND WHICH VOIR DIRE PREJUDICED THE JURY AGAINST THE DEFENDANT

ISSUE THREE

WHETHER THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BECAUSE THE JUDGE AND THE JURY POOL ALL KNEW SUFFICIENT INFORMATION ABOUT THE HIGHLY PUBLICIZED AND NATURALLY ATTENTION-GRABBING DECAPITATION MURDER THAT CONCLUSIVELY REQUIRED A CHANGE OF VENUE

ISSUE FOUR

WHETHER THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BY AN IMPARTIAL JURY UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES WHEN A FEMALE JUROR LEFT THE JURY BOX AND THE COURTROOM AND WHEN SHE WAS RETRIEVED THE JUDGE DID NOT CONDUCT ANY EXAMINATION FOR IMPROPER INFLUENCES DURING HER ABSENCE

ISSUE FIVE

WHETHER DEFENDANT WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION BY THE HEARSAY CONTENT OF THE INVESTIGATORS' TESTIMONY ON MOTIVE AND THAT THE YOUNGSTER MICHAEL HAD FOUND HIS WINDOW LOCKED AND IT WAS UNUSUAL..

ISSUE SIX

WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN TRIAL COUNSEL: (1) PROMISED IN OPENING INTRUDERS HAD KILLED LAKESHIA AND THREATENED NEAL IF HE TOLD AND NEAL HAD TOLD THE INVESTIGATORS, BUT NEVER AGAIN TOUCHED ON THIS SUBJECT AT ALL (2) FAILED TO OBJECT TO <u>CRAWFORD V. WASHINGTON</u> HEARSAY USED TO DEVELOP MOTIVE AND CULPABILITY; (3) FAILED TO CROSS EXAMINE WITNESSES ON THE CRIME SCENE TO DEVELOP SUPPORT FOR POSTMORTEM DECAPITATION AND USE AUTOPSY CONCLUDING SUCH; (4) FAILED TO OBJECT TO JURY INSTRUCTION THAT DID NOT INCLUDE DECAPITATION AS THE CAUSE OF DEATH; (5) FAILED TO MOVE FOR A CHANGE OF VENUE; (6) FAILED TO CALL NEAL TO TESTIFY IN SUPPORT OF INTRUDER DEFENSE; (7) FAILED TO MAKE TIMELY OBJECTIONS AND DEMAND ADVERSE RULINGS FROM THE COURT; (8) FAILED TO REQUEST LESSER INCLUDED MANSLAUGHTER AND MUTILATION INSTRUCTIONS

ISSUE SEVEN

WHETHER A VALID CONVICTION EXISTS IF THE JUDGE DOES NOT ACCEPT AND JURY VERDICT AND DOES NOT ADJUDICATE THE DEFENDANT GUILTY

ISSUE EIGHT

WHETHER DEFENDANT IS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL WHEN A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER OR DESECRATION OF A HUMAN CORPSE ARE NOT GIVEN THOUGH THEY ARE JUSTIFIED BY THE EVIDENCE

ISSUE NINE

WHETHER WHERE CUMULATIVE ERRORS SEPARATELY CONSIDERED MAY NOT JUSTIFY REVERSAL BUT THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE ERRORS DENY APPELLANT A FUNDAMENTAL FAIR TRIAL, THEN REVERSAL IS NECESSITATED

ISSUE TEN

WHETHER THE COURT DENIES DEFENDANT A FAIR TRIAL, DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS WHEN IT FAILS TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL WHERE THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT AND MAY HAVE BEEN THE RESULT OF BIAS, PREJUDICE AND IMPROPER PREJUDICIAL EVIDENCE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Course of Proceedings Below

On November 10, 2006 the grand jury for the First Judicial District of Tallahatchie County indited Jermaine Neal upon a charge of deliberate design murder of Latisha Cleveland by willful decapitation of her in violation of 97-3-19(1) a of **Mississippi Code 1972.** (CP4) On December 7,2006 the trial was reset to April 9, 2007. The state, in response to the discovery request, filed some 169 pages of discovery (CP13-182). By order dated January 4, 2007 Honorable Ross Barnett Jr. was substituted for as counsel for Mr. Neal. (CP210) Trial started on September 17, 2007(T5) and ended on September 18, 2007 at 5:55 PM (T255), when the jury returned the verdict of guilty (CP237)after having retired to deliberate at 3:50 PM.(T254) The Judge sentenced Neal to Life Imprisonment.

On September 24, 2007 defense filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, Motion for New Trial. (CP258-259) The transcript does not reflect that a hearing was held on this motion. The motion was denied by order entered on September 25, 2007. (CP264) On October 22,2007 undersigned Attorney Williams filed an entry of appearance (CP265) an order allowing defendant pauper status (CP272), the Notice of Appeal (CP275)on that date.

Preliminary Matters

Voir Dire

The judge explained that the questioning was for their benefit because it was an opportunity for a juror to tell a reason why he or she should not be required to serve on this particular case. He explained that a indictment was not evidence of guilt, saying "This is a manner in language that we use to charge someone with an offence".(T6) He got no response to whether anyone were close friends of the D. A. or in his social circle or had a family member that had been prosecuted them (T7) He identified defense counsel Ross Barnett and though he then asked counsel about where

Neal lived in the county, the Judge said : "I kind of think it is in the South part of the county." (T8) Juror number 124, Antonio Markel Andrews said he stayed about a half mile from Neal, said he had stopped by his house before and was his neighbor so to speak. To the question: "and you feel like that would put you in a spot that you don't want to be", Andrews answered: " No-- Yeah." The judge then said Andrews would not have to answers any more questions from either side and he would excuse him later. Mrs Rosalind Adams, number 227 said she worked at the Tallahatchie prison with Neal and did not think she should serve. The judge asked her if she had close contact with Neal and she had seen him a lot. Mrs. Adams answered "Yeah", to the judges questions: "Has anything developed that you feel that would cause you to be biased or prejudiced or something less than a fair-minded juror?" Similarly as with Andrews, the judge told Adams she would not have to answer any more questions. (T10) Patrick Shelton Hollis, 214 said she worked at the prison where he was at and had seen him a lot and the judge said she would not have to answer anymore questions.(T10) Mrs. Theresa Lang Davis, #160 said that due to pre-gossip and hearsay that her judgement might be misled and explained that when it happened all the news media and everybody talking might cause her to jump to a conclusion and misjudge Neal. The judge then told her he would ask her a question and it depend ed on how she answered it, explaining, "Us lawyers, we have certain, questions we must ask and certain answers we are seeking." he then asked her if she came in that morning with the case already decided in her mind. She said no but she had heard a lot. The judge remarked that sure a lot of folks in here have heard about this case and he said "What we are looking for is if you are telling me that you have got your mind made up...(if you have) I don't want you." Mrs. Davis said she didn't have her mind made up and the judge further explained they were looking for people that were fair and impartial and who would listen to the evidence and make a decision based on what they heard in the court room: "Rather than what you here up and down these streets or in the coffee shop somewhere."(T11) To the question "Do you see where I'm coming

÷

from" Mrs. Davis answered yes. The judge went on to elaborate that: " when things happen in a small community, we all hear about it. You know, if we are alive and up walking and we got ears and eyes, we know pretty much what's going on but at all the times, we don't get the true facts. We don't get the facts that would let us fairly judge a person and if we go on this morning and if you feel like you have got the case pre-judged, it doesn't make any difference which way it is, we need to know about it. Okay?" (T12)

"The judge asked if there is anyone else have any connection now with Mr. Jermaine Neal, the accused in this case?". (No Response) Then asked if you have got something on your mind and you are not sure whether it is a problem or not, go ahead and reveal it and let me help you with it. All we are looking for is 12 People and two alternates that can hear this case, fairly decide it. We don't want some juror coming on that already dislikes him or his family or is extra close to him or his family. We are looking for 12 people who can just listen to the evidence, apply the law, and call it like you see it. That's what makes the criminal justice system work. All right? I'm going to move on."(T12)

Pamela Denise Davis number 258 said her religion didn't believe in judging people. The judge explained she wouldn't be judging his salvation, if he would be going to heaven or hell, but just if he was guilty or not guilty. Mrs. Davis said she could not. The judge said she could not have to answer any more questions. Mr. Berlin Taylor number206 (T15) spoke up and the judge recognized him from prior panels that he could not judge like Mrs. Davis and he said he would not have to answer any more questions. .(T16) Mrs. Shirley Brooks Number 188 said she did not think she would judge him either. He did not tell her that she would not have to answer any more questions.

The judge then went back to the fact that the panel might have heard about the case (T17)

He wanted to know if anybody had decided the case in their mind that Neal was guilty or not guilty that none of them had heard a sworn witness been examined or crossed examined by a lawyer to get to the truth. Mrs Cherrie Laking Truy, number 272 raised her hand and the judge asked her if she was involved in the investigation to which she said no, agreeing she had just heard talk but when she persisted she had formed a opinion, the judge stopped her and didn't want her contaminating other Juror (T18) Mrs Sammy Lella Laws, number 53 Said she had heard about the case and read about it in the paper the Judge said: "Most everybody has haven't they?" she agreed. Mrs. Laws said she already formed a opinion and the judge said she didn't have to answer anymore questions. (T19) The judge invited the panel to ask questions about procedures or such not about the case.(T20)

ł

ī.

District Attorney John Champion Voir Dired the jury, (T21) He said the States burden was beyond a reasonable doubt not reasonable doubt.(T24) Without objection first saying Mississippi did not define reasonable doubt he said it was what your heard from the evidence, what law was given to you by judge Baker and your common sense. He said you put these three things together and reach a decision on the case. He again said that judge Baker would not tell them what reasonable doubt was that each member would have to decide. Mr. Norris Genne Dungan, number 185 said proof would have to be without all doubt.(T25) Mr. G. A. Johnson, 216, said what was the D A definition between reasonable and all. The DA said my definition doesn't really matter unfortunately. I bet mine and Mr. Barnett's definition is different. It is just something that you have got to decide in your own mind once you hear the evidence. and I wish I can–I sometimes hesitate about asking this question because typically somebody is going to ask me what is the definition of beyond a reasonable doubt as opposed to beyond all doubt and I really can't give it to you. I always like to say, well, when you are finally convinced one way or the other is the best way I can describe it."(T26)

The DA, without objection on (T28) he said they believe they would here a confession on

tape that he gave to the police. He then questioned if there were anyone overwhelmed by photograph and video tapes of the crime scene. (T28) He said the state did not have the head "at this time" (T29) Beverly Holmes Jackson, Number45, Mr. Anthony Tyrone Towns number 131, and Mrs. Rachel Ann Williams number 55 all said they could not view the pictures.(T29) He said this was a very serious matter and Mr. Neal was entitled to a fair trial not perfect and Lakeshia was entitled to a fair trial. There was no response to weather anybody would refuse to reach a decision to some unanswered questions(T30) Mrs. Theresa Lang number 160, said she might not be able to make a decision because of unanswered question one like she would like to ask where is the head. The D A responded that he could not get into the facts of the case. (T31) When the D. A. then asked was there anything that would keep someone from being fair and impartial, Kenneth Ray Bloodworth number 270, said he worked for the Department of Corrections at Parchman. The D.A. asked would that affect Bloodworth's fairness and Bloodworth said that it wouldn't affect his fairness but he had to work around inmates.(T32) The D. A. asked if the State failed to meet its burden of proof would Bloodworth have a problem with finding Neal not guilty, Bloodworth said he rather not answer because he works around inmates.(T33)

Mr. Barnett voir dired the panel .(T34). At T35, acknowledging that the State had gone first and a first impression was a last impression, he got no response to the question for the panel to tell him they would not make up their mind until all the evidence. He then said: "Some of you look like you may have already made up your mind." Asking the panel to tell him if anyone had, there was no response. He got no response to whether the jury understood the Judge was instruct them if the Defendant didn't testify they could not hold that against him. Asking had they heard the phrase "presumption of innocence" many times just like the phrase "reasonable doubt", seeming to not question the DA's previous description of reasonable doubt precipitated an unknown panel member effectively saying presumed innocence until proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt (T36). He got

ι

no response after he described how no two people see things exactly the same, asking them would they hold up their judgment until the Judge told them to go back in the jury room and consider a verdict.

Two people said they worked for the Department of Corrections. Panel member Ronnie Hand, number 99, had previously worked in law enforcement for eighteen years (T37). Some panel members nodded to the question whether after they went to consider their verdict: "will you make the State prove to you in your mind beyond a reasonable doubt to you that this man is guilty before you would vote guilty?"(T38-39) One verbally agreed they would not let someone else make up their mind. Defense counsel then directed them to make up their own mind and that a discussion between them was only natural but they were going to make up their own mind. Defense counsel then recalled the DA was talking about reasonable doubt, saying there was no legal definition, "because really a reasonable doubt is up to you and what is reasonable in your mind. I've always thought a reasonable doubt, the word 'reasonable' is reason able. It is able to be arrived at through reason. That is a doubt that is able to be arrived at through reasoning and so if you have reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt or innocence and you are selected to serve on the jury, would you not hesitate to vote not guilty? All of you?...(T39) (there was no response) ...Q. Even if 11 of you said he is guilty, you'd still stick to your own conscience wouldn't you?" One juror verbalized he or she would (T40).

Jury Selection

ł

The Judge told Neal that he had the right to remain silent or testify in the case and that Mr. Barnett would discuss it with him at the proper time but he told Neal that if he disagreed with Mr. Barnett, he had the right to override his decision and do what is best for himself (T41).

The Judge, on his own, struck Number 53 Ms. Laws for cause because he thought she had heard too much about the case to be fair. Again, on his own, the Judge commented that the D. A. had

8

a couple that dealt inability to view evidence, but the Court deferred to the D. A. as to whether he would strike them. . The Judge said Mr. Andrews, number 124 was struck for cause because he was too close to the Defendant (T42). When the Judge said Mr. Townes, number 131, really needed to work, Barnett recalled Townes said he couldn't review the evidence and Barnett wanted somebody to listen to the evidence. The Judge said that Ms. Davis, number 160, had responded sufficiently to show she wanted off the jury and he didn't know whether she had sided up with one side or the other but he thought she should be struck for cause. Mrs. Brooks, number 188, said she couldn't sit in judgment of another and he thought she should go. The Judge said Mr. Dungan, white male number 185, that he had a note by when the DA was talking about reasonable doubt and the Judge said he never knew when jurors really understood the fine lines that a lawyer did. He asked the DA was he going to dismiss number 185 and the DA said probably not but if he needed to get rid of him, he would use one of his strikes. The Court said if the DA was going to strike him, he was going to give Defense counsel a chance to rehabilitate him "because often times I think a juror gets confused on that reasonable doubt." Defense counsel said he thought the DA would be sportsmanlike and allow number 185 to stay and during the trial the DA could rehabilitate him. The Judge then with agreement of counsel struck Mr. Taylor, number 206.(T44) The Court acknowledged that it had struck Mrs. Brooks, number 188. The Judge then turned to the panel members who had worked for Correctional Corporation of America (CCA) at the Tallahatchie County prison, number 214 and number 227, asking the Circuit Clerk were they excused who responded they weren't excused but Mr. Barnett corrected to say that number 214 was excused out in the Courtroom to which the DA responded number 214 was not excused but the Judge told him he didn't have to respond to any more question (T45). The Judge then said he needed to excuse number 214 (and number 227) saying: "both of these have told me they handle the prisoner and transported him and stuff and I don't know whether it is good or bad." (T46) The Court said number 258 said she could not sit in judgment and

Mr. Bloodworth works for MDOC. The Judge then acknowledged that Bloodworth was called "Okra", used to shoe the Judge's horse, and was old, and said they might call Bloodworth back to chambers and ask him if that was a problem, saying there was so many in the County that worked for MDOC, it was hard to excuse everybody. The Judge said Mrs. Truly, number 272 said she had heard too much about the case and that he needed to excuse her for cause. Neither the State nor defense counsel had any additional ones for cause.

Opening Statements

The Judge gave the jury instructions that no one was to talk to them as they went to lunch or were in the courtroom or wherever but did not order them to report any such attempts to talk to them, leaving it up to a third person to report if someone happened to see anyone talking to them (T57). He told them not to decide the case too early but to wait until he had instructed them on the law, implying, however, that the reason was that their job would be a whole lot easier to make a decision once they had heard and the witnesses and knew what the law was. He said at T58: "once you have all of that, your job will be a whole lot easier than it would be to try to prematurely decide the case."(T58) Juror Ardis Lee Jones told the Judge at T58-59 that he had bad eyesight but he could read a little bit. Mr. Jones persisted that he could not read, that he could not see too good and the Judge said he didn't know what to do other than substitute an alternate juror. Mr. Barnett said that the instructions would be read to him and he did not know what else he might need to read that would come into evidence (T59). Jones persisted that he had real bad eyesight. The Court suggested they just see kind of how the evidence "flows" and admitted it didn't know what other reading evidence except the instructions would come into the case. The State revealed it would have some photographs and two videotapes that were pretty important. The Court said they would just let him try to see and the Judge would ask him at some point if he was seeing everything like the videos. If he couldn't, they would use an alternate. Mr. Jones persisted his eyesight was bad and the Judge said

he saw Jones raise his hand one time but Jones did not follow up. Jones explained that he, pointing to someone, told him to put his hand down. Jones said he was trying to tell the Judge then. The Judge then sent the Jury to lunch at 12:00pm (T60).

After lunch, the Judge got a negative response to whether anyone had tried to talk to the jurors during lunch (T61).

The District Attorney gave his opening statement (T62) and, as it professed, told the jury that unfortunately he would not be able to produce a head or photographs of Lakeshia's head "because as of this day, it has not been found." (T69).

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