IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JERMAINE NEAL

VS.

APPELLANT

FILED

AUG 1 2 2008

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals NO. 2007-KA-1899-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It could be argued that the State undertook a heavier burden by unnecessarily including in the indictment the method employed by Neal to effectuate Lakeshia's death. However, the State met this burden by proving with legally sufficient evidence that Neal murdered Lakeisha by decapitating her. The elements instruction, although it did not reference decapitation, fairly and accurately informed the jury of the elements of the crime of deliberate design murder which it must find before returning a verdict of guilt.

The trial court struck, *sua sponte*, nine potential jurors who admitted on the record that they could not be fair and impartial. This action was not only proper, but required by statute. The trial court also ensured that a juror who indicated that he had poor eyesight could see all of the evidence presented. Neal's claim that the prosecutor impermissibly defined reasonable doubt during opening statements is belied by the record.

Neal is procedurally barred from arguing that he was entitled to a change of venue because he did not move for a change of venue in the trial court.

The trial court did not err in not examining a juror who momentarily left the courtroom. The juror was followed by the bailiff, and nothing in the record suggests that she had contact, much less improper contact, with anyone.

Neal failed to object at trial to the hearsay statement of which he now complains. Accordingly, his fifth assignment of error is procedurally barred. The assignment is also without merit, as no substantial right belonging to Neal was affected by its admission. The statement was in no way testimonial, and therefore does not implicate Neal's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation.

The record does not affirmatively show ineffective assistance of counsel, thereby making the

issue inappropriate for review on direct appeal. Neal's first claim of ineffective assistance cannot be substantiated without the benefit of supporting affidavits. The remainder of Neal's allegations concern trial strategy, which cannot be the basis for an ineffective assistance claim.

Neal seems to argue that because the trial court never announced on the record that it agreed with the jury's determination of guilt, he was not validly adjudicated guilty. Although this frivolous claim hardly warrants a response, the State would simply direct this honorable Court to the trial court's order of judgement of conviction and sentence.

Neal is procedurally barred from arguing for the first time on appeal that he was entitled to instructions which he never requested. Although the State had prepared a heat of passion manslaughter instruction, it withdrew it from the Court's consideration. The trial court also correctly noted that the evidence simply would not support such an instruction.

Neal is not entitled to relief based on cumulative error, because Neal has failed to demonstrate even one harmless error committed by the trial court.

Finally, the State proved with legally sufficient evidence that Neal murdered Lakeshia Cleveland. The jury's verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

ARGUMENT

I. THE INDICTMENT AND ELEMENTS INSTRUCTION WERE LEGALLY SUFFICIENT.

Neal claims that the trial court committed reversible error in granting a murder instruction which did not track the language of the indictment. Although not required, the murder indictment included the method by which Neal murder Lakeshia, that is, decapitation. The jury instruction, however, was the standard deliberate design murder instruction, which did not reference the method employed by Neal to effectuate Lakeshia's death.

In *Duplantis v. State*, the defendant's capital murder indictment stated that the killing was done with malice aforethought. 708 So.2d 1327, 1343 (¶71) (Miss. 1998). The jury instructions, however, informed the jury that capital murder was committed with or without design to effect death. *Id.* at (¶¶72-73). On appeal, Duplantis argued that the instructions unconstitutionally amended the indictment, and that the State should have been required to prove malice aforethought, as charged in the indictment. *Id.* at (¶74). The supreme court resolved the issue in stating the following.

At trial, the jury should be instructed in language that tracks the indictment. However, if the instruction fails to contain this language, the instruction is not necessarily fatally defective. Furthermore, intent to kill is not a necessary element of felony murder when a person is slain during the course of a robbery.

No error exists within the instructions given in this case. Although the instructions may not accurately follow the indictment, they do accurately follow the requisite elements of the crime.

Duplantis v. State, 708 So.2d 1327, 1344 (¶¶75-76) (Miss. 1998) (internal citations omitted). Similarly, in the case *sub judice*, although the elements instruction did not track the language of the indictment, it did accurately contain the statutory elements of the crime of deliberate design murder. As such, the instruction was properly given.

Neal also claims that the State did not prove that Lakeshia was killed by decapitation. He

points to the autopsy report in which the medical examiner referred to the decapitation as post-mortem. This fact is irrelevant for two reasons. First, the report was not entered into evidence, nor did the medical examiner testify. As such, the jury was presented with no evidence to support a finding that the decapitation was committed after Lakeshia was already dead. Second, the report explicitly stated the cause of death was undetermined. C.P. 146.

Despite Neal's claim on appeal that Lakeshia was decapitated after death, the State presented sufficient evidence to the jury that Lakeshia was alive prior decapitation. Neal's confession was introduced through Investigator Davis. Davis testified, "He said he took the knife and came across her throat and that she just jerked and kicked and that he cut back and forth until her head came off."

T. 172. Davis's notes, which were entered into evidence, reflect the same. See Exhibit 21.

Although it could be argued that the State undertook a heavier burden by including in the indictment the method employed by Neal to effectuate Lakeshia's death, the State met this burden by proving with legally sufficient evidence that Neal murdered Lakeisha by decapitating her. The elements instruction fairly and accurately informed the jury of the elements of the crime of deliberate design murder which it must find before returning a verdict of guilt. Accordingly, Neal's first assignment of error is without merit.

II. THE TRIAL COURT FULFILLED ITS STATUTORY DUTY IN STRIKING JURORS WHO WERE ADMITTEDLY PREJUDICE AGAINST THE DEFENDANT.

During the court's *voir dire*, nine veniremen indicated that they could not be fair and impartial, with two of the nine stating that they had already formed an opinion as to Neal's guilt or innocence.² T. 9-11, 14-19. In order to prevent these veniremen from tainting the rest of the panel with explanations as to why they could not serve without bias or prejudice, the trial court instructed the nine that they would not be required to answer any further questions. T. 9-19. After *voir dire*, the trial court, *sua sponte*, struck the nine veniremen in question for cause, as those jurors stated on the record that they could not be fair and impartial. T. 42-47. Defense counsel raised no objection to the trial court's actions.

On appeal, Neal argues that the trial court "communicated implicitly to the other panel members if they wanted to stay on the jury panel, they should be cautious in giving any response that might indicated pre-judgment." Appellant's brief at 27. What a jury panel member may divine from allegedly implicit communication from the trial court is simply no basis for reversible error. Further, Mississippi Code Annotated § 13-5-79 states in pertinent part, "Any juror shall be excluded, however, if the court be of opinion that he cannot try the case impartially, and the exclusion shall not be assignable for error." See also, *Langston v. State*, 791 So.2d 273, 281 (¶17) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). Accordingly, the trial court simply fulfilled its statutory duty in striking those who explicitly stated that they could not be fair and impartial jurors.

Neal also includes the following two seemingly disjointed sub-issues.

Juror Ardis Lee Jones

²The jurors in question were Antonio Andrews, Rosalind Adams, Patrick Hollis, Theresa Davis, Pam Davis, Berlin Taylor, Shirley Brooks, Cherie Truy, and Ella Laws.

After the jury had been selected and sworn in, Juror Jones informed the court that he had poor eyesight. The trial court then stated, "Gentlemen, I don't know what to do but to substitute an alternate juror. I asked the whole panel this morning if they could read or write. I didn't ask any of them if they couldn't see well enough to read." T. 59. After this offer, defense counsel expressed a desire to keep Jones on the jury, as evidence by the following exchange.

MR. BARNETT: Of course, Your Honor, the instructions are going to be read

to him.

THE COURT: They will be.

MR. BARNETT: By the Court and I don't know what else he might need to read

that may come into evidence but I believe he said -- you can

see me?

JUROR JONES: Yes, sir, I have real bad eyesight.

MR. BARNETT: I hope that he might could –

THE COURT: Let's just kind of see how the evidence flows. I don't know

what the evidence is going to be other than the instructions of

law.

MR. CHAMPION: Your Honor, we are going to have some photographs. We are

going to have two videotapes that are pretty important. I don't if he'll be able to -- the juror can answer if whether or not he

can see well enough.

THE COURT: Let's start it out this way. Let's let him try and I am going to

ask you at some point in time if you are seeing everything that you need to see like these videos. We have got two alternate

jurors. You know, if you can't, we'll -- I'll excuse you.

T. 59-60. During trial, after photographic evidence was presented by the State, the trial court asked

Juror Jones whether he was able to see the photographs. T. 99. Jones responded in the affirmative.

T. 99. Additionally, before turning the case over to the jury for deliberations, the trial court once

again ensured that Jones had been able to see all of the evidence presented. T. 230.

On appeal, Neal presents nothing more than mere conjecture in claiming that, "Naturally, once the juror is into the evidence, including hearing the video confession, so to speak, he will say he had no trouble seeing." Appellant's brief at 28. Further, he cites absolutely no case law to support his position, whatever it may be. In any event, the trial court stuck to its word in ensuring that Juror Jones had been able to see all of the evidence presented.

The State's Comment on Reasonable Doubt

During *voir dire*, the State did nothing more than explain to the jury that its burden was to prove Neal's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. T. 24-25. The prosecutor explicitly told the jury that they would not be receiving a definition of reasonable doubt. T. 25. The prosecutor was then asked by a juror the difference between reasonable doubt and all doubt. T. 26. Again, the prosecutor refused to define reasonable doubt, but just told the juror that he would have to make his mind up one way or another as to guilt. T. 26. Both this honorable Court and the supreme court have found that comments on reasonable doubt, similar to those in question, during *voir dire* and opening and closing statements were proper. *Stigall v. State*, 869 So.2d 410, 413 -414 (¶¶9-11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003); *Simon v. State*, 857 So.2d 668, 696 (¶73) (Miss. 2003). Further, if Neal found the prosecutor's statements objectionable, he was required to raise an objection in order to preserve the issue for appeal. *Baker v. State*, 930 So.2d 399, 412 (¶30) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Because he failed to do so, his claim is both procedurally barred and meritless.

III. BECAUSE NEAL FAILED TO MOVE FOR A CHANGE OF VENUE, HE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM ARGUING FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL THAT HE WAS ENTITLED TO SUCH.

Neal is procedurally barred from arguing that he was entitled to a change of venue when he did not move for such in the trial court. *Wilson v. State*, 797 So.2d 277, 284 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). Whereas some issues which are procedurally barred are still capable of discussion on the merits, the issue of whether a defendant was entitled to change of venue is not. To be entitled to a change of venue, one must present the trial court with sworn affidavits from two credible persons to show that the defendant cannot receive a fair trial in that county due to "prejudgment of the case, or grudge or ill will to the defendant in the public mind." Miss. Code Ann. 99-15-35. "An application for a change of venue must conform strictly to this statute." *Smith v. State*, 981 So.2d 1025, 1033 (¶39) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Even after the required showing, the State can rebut the presumption of prejudice during voir dire, and the ultimate decision lies in the sound discretion of the trial court. *Id.* at (¶37) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Hickson v. State*, 707 So.2d 536, 541-42(¶22) (Miss. 1997)). Neal failed to move for change of venue, much less conform to the requirements of the statute. Accordingly, his assignment of error necessarily fails.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT EXAMINING A JUROR WHO MOMENTARILY LEFT THE COURTROOM.

During the State's case, a juror left the courtroom without permission. T. 163. The court then recessed and instructed the bailiff to go check on the juror and "see what's wrong." T. 163. After the recess, the State's direct examination of Davis continued, and there was no further mention of the juror who stepped out of the courtroom. Neal claims on appeal that the trial court should have examined the juror to determine whether she had been improperly influenced "when she was outside the control of the bailiff." Appellant's brief at 32. However, the record indicates that the bailiff immediately left the court room to check on the juror.

Although the trial court did not state on the record that the juror had not had contact without persons, after swearing in the jury, the trial court stated the following.

Should anyone approach you, don't engage in conversation with anyone. You are required to make your decision based on the evidence presented here in the courtroom and instructions of law that I give you to follow. Anything else would be improper. If you are seen talking to people around the hall ways, on the elevator, parking lot, somebody's going to report that to me and I'm going to have to recess a trial and bring you in and conduct a hearing and try to determine if anybody, No. I, has done anything improper and if so, has it affected someone's right.

T. 56-57. The above quoted language evidences the fact that the trial court was fully aware of its duty to ensure that jurors did not have improper contact with non-jury members. Had the bailiff seen the juror communicating with anyone outside the courtroom, we must presume that the trial court would have conducted a hearing on the matter, as promised.

Additionally, the *Watts* case cited by the appellant is wholly inapplicable, as it dealt with UCCCR 10.02, which requires jury sequestration in death penalty cases. The *Grimsley* case cited by Neal is also distinguishable, because in that case, the record affirmatively established that jurors were unattended by the bailiff and spoke with non-jury members during trial. Neal has failed to

show that the juror had contact with anyone during her absence, much less improper contact. As such, he is entitled to no relief based on this assignment of error.

V. THE HEARSAY STATEMENT ADMITTED WITHOUT OBJECTION IN NO WAY AFFECTED A SUBSTANTIAL RIGHT BELONGING TO THE DEFENDANT.

Mary Loerker, the defendant's neighbor, testified that on the day of the murder the victim's son, who had been at her house after school, went home, came back and informed her that his house was locked. During this testimony, Loerker also testified that the little boy stated, "That seems odd. My window is never locked." T. 77. Incredibly, citing *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), Neal claims that this statement violated his Sixth Amendment right to confrontation.

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